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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Pollard Banknote Limited

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pollard Banknote Limited (the “Entity”), which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019, the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies (hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.
We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
auditors’ report.

Evaluation of intangible assets acquired in the mkodo Limited and Compliant Gaming, LLC
acquisitions
Description of the matter
We draw attention to Notes 2(d), 3(b), 5(a) and 5(c) to the financial statements. On February 3, 2020, the
Entity acquired mkodo Limited (mkodo) for total consideration of $17,447 thousand, which is net of cash
acquired and debt assumed.
© 2020 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms
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On December 30, 2020, the Entity acquired Compliant Gaming, LLC (Compliant) for total consideration of
$29,588 thousand. In connection with the mkodo transaction, the Entity recorded customer relationships,
technology and brand and in connection with the Compliant transaction, the Entity recorded customer
relationships, game library and software (collectively, the “intangible assets”). The acquisition date fair value
for the mkodo intangible assets was $8,127 thousand. The acquisition date fair value for the Compliant
intangible assets was $17,389 thousand. The Entity’s significant assumptions used in determining the
acquisition date fair value for the intangible assets include:


projected revenue growth rates;



projected gross profit;



the discount rates.

Why the matter is a key audit matter
We identified the evaluation of the acquisition date fair value of the intangible assets acquired in the mkodo
and Compliant transactions as a key audit matter. We identified this as a key audit matter because
significant auditor judgment was required in evaluating the audit evidence obtained relating to the significant
assumptions noted above. The estimated fair value of the intangible assets acquired is sensitive to possible
changes to these significant assumptions.
How the matter was addressed in the audit
The primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter included the following:
To assess the Entity’s projected revenue growth rates and projected gross profit, we compared the
assumptions to mkodo’s and Compliant’s historical actual results. We also considered the Entity’s expected
synergies and cost savings after integration.
We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who evaluated the discount
rates by comparing them to discount rate ranges that were independently developed using publicly available
information for comparable entities.

Evaluation of the goodwill impairment analysis for cash generating units
Description of the matter
We draw attention to Notes 2(d), 3(l) and 10 to the financial statements. The goodwill balance as of
December 31, 2020 was $89,276 thousand related to the Lotteries, Charitable gaming, Diamond Game
and Retail cash generating units and groups of cash generating units (CGUs). The Entity performs goodwill
impairment testing at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of
each CGU based on the greater of the “value in use” or “fair value less costs to sell” of the CGU. The
determination of each of these amounts require the Entity to make significant estimates and assumptions
which include projected revenue and discount rates.
Why the matter is a key audit matter
We identified the evaluation of the goodwill impairment analysis for the CGUs as a key audit matter. This
matter represented an area of significant risk of misstatement given the magnitude of the goodwill balance.
This matter required significant auditor judgment in evaluating the results of our audit procedures due to
the high degree of estimation uncertainty involved in the Entity’s estimates and assumptions.

How the matter was addressed in the audit
The primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter included the following:
We compared the Entity’s historical revenue estimates to actual results to assess the Entity’s ability to
accurately project revenue assumptions.
We evaluated the Entity’s projected revenue assumptions by comparing those assumptions to the Entity’s
expected growth rates. We took into account changes in conditions and events affecting each CGU to
assess the adjustments or lack of adjustments made in arriving at projected revenue.
We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge to assist in assessing the
discount rates used in the estimated recoverable amounts, by comparing them to discount rate ranges that
were independently developed using publicly available information for comparable entities.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises:


the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian
Securities Commissions.



the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in a
document likely to be entitled “Annual Report 2020”.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, and remain alert for indications that the other
information appears to be materially misstated.
We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant
Canadian Securities Commissions, as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we have
performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
The information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in a
document likely to be entitled “Annual Report 2020” is expected to be made available to us after the date
of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we will perform on this other information, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact to those charged
with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes
our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.



Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.



Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

Chartered Professional Accountants
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Robert Kowalchuk.
Winnipeg, Canada
March 10, 2021

Pollard Banknote Limited

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories (note 6)
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Income tax receivable
Total current assets

$

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (note 7)
Equity investment (note 9)
Goodwill (note 10)
Intangible assets (note 11)
Deferred income taxes (note 12)
Total non-current assets
Total assets

1,888
19,058
66,037
46,620
6,707
338
140,648

$

96,396
881
89,276
74,146
3,220
263,919
$

404,567

7,448
13,000
57,213
42,540
7,224
5,200
132,625
91,904
1,161
69,993
54,207
2,375
219,640

$

352,265

Pollard Banknote Limited

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Dividends payable
Income taxes payable
Contract liabilities (note 17)
Current portion lease liabilities (note 8)
Total current liabilities

$

59,433
1,028
4,941
379
5,109
70,890

$

47,368
1,025
641
–

4,375
53,409

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt (note 13)
Other non-current liabilities
Pension liability (note 14)
Lease liabilities (note 8)
Deferred income taxes (note 12)
Total non-current liabilities

131,080
1,322
36,370
11,832
10,690
191,294

127,295
337
26,547
11,554
9,839
175,572

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 15)
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

109,007
2,563
30,813
142,383

108,642
5,705
8,937
123,284

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)
Subsequent events (note 28)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:
“Dave Brown”

Director

“John Pollard”

Director

$

404,567

$

352,265

Pollard Banknote Limited

Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31
2020
Sales (note 17)

$

414,134

2019
$

397,839

Cost of sales
Gross profit

323,089
91,045

Administration
Selling
(Gain) loss on equity investment (note 9)
Other income (note 18)
Income from operations

40,311
14,644
(1,587)
(12,364)
50,041

40,625
15,912
3,942
(1,987)
32,614

10,924
(7,025)
46,142

7,544
(3,931)
29,001

10,955
1,899
12,854

2,136
4,848
6,984

Finance costs (note 19)
Finance income (note 19)
Income before income taxes
Income taxes (note 12)
Current
Deferred

306,733
91,106

Net income

$

33,288

$

22,017

Net income per share (basic) (note 20)

$

1.30

$

0.86

Net income per share (diluted) (note 20)

$

1.28

$

0.86

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Pollard Banknote Limited
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31
2020
Net income

$

33,288

2019
$

22,017

Other comprehensive loss:
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit and loss
Foreign currency translation differences – foreign
operations

(3,142)

(6,993)

(7,649)
(10,791)

(5,409)
(12,402)

Items that will never be reclassified to profit and loss
Defined benefit plans remeasurements, net of
income tax (note 12 & note 14)
Other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive income

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$

22,497

$

9,615

Pollard Banknote Limited

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended December 31, 2020

Balance at December 31, 2019

$

Share
capital

Translation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

108,642

5,705

8,937

123,284

33,288

33,288

Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Foreign currency translation differences –
foreign operations
Defined benefit plans remeasurements, net
of income tax (note 12 & note 14)
Total other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive income (loss)

–
–
–
–
–

$

$

Issue of common shares (note 15)

–
(3,142)
–
(3,142)
(3,142)

–

(3,142)

(7,649)

(7,649)

(7,649)
25,639

(10,791)
22,497

365

–

(67)

298

Share based compensation

–

–

409

409

Dividends (note 15)

–

–

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

(4,105)

(4,105)

109,007

2,563

30,813

142,383

Share
capital

Translation
reserve

Retained
earnings
(deficit)

Total
equity

108,605

12,698

Year ended December 31, 2019

Balance at December 31, 2018

$

Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Foreign currency translation differences –
foreign operations
Defined benefit plans remeasurements, net
of income tax
Total other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive income (loss)

–
–
–
–
–

$

$

–
(6,993)
–
(6,993)
(6,993)

(3,665)

117,638

22,017

22,017

–

(6,993)

(5,409)

(5,409)

(5,409)
16,608

(12,402)
9,615

Issue of common shares

37

–

(18)

19

Share based compensation

–

–

114

114

Dividends

–

–

Balance at December 31, 2019

$

108,642

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

5,705

(4,102)
8,937

(4,102)
123,284

Pollard Banknote Limited

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31
2020

2019

Cash increase (decrease)
Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments
Income taxes
Amortization and depreciation
Interest expense
Unrealized foreign exchange gain
Loss (gain) on equity investment (note 9)
Pension expense (note 14)
Contract liabilities
Contingent consideration (note 18)
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Pension contributions
Change in non-cash operating working capital
(note 22)

$

(2,137)
(4,713)
(1,053)
(8,587)
(10,973)
59,651

(22,308)
29,295

(12,957)

(17,240)
(8,542)

–

(15,349)
(24,349)
(4,895)

–
–
–

1,860
(5,978)
(61,668)

20
(3,997)
(8,553)
(38,312)

298
5,055
32
(128)
(5,098)
(4,102)
(3,943)

19
14,321
(107)
(450)
(4,378)
(3,845)
5,560

–

Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash held in foreign currency

400

Change in cash
Cash, beginning of year
$

22,017
6,984
27,138
6,415
(3,361)
3,942
6,476
(43)
(192)
(6,372)
(3,988)
(7,413)

–

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital
Net proceeds from long-term debt (note 13)
Change in other non-current liabilities
Deferred financing charges paid (note 13)
Lease principal payments
Dividends paid

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$

12,854
31,467
4,841
(1,894)
(1,587)
8,145

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (note 7)
Acquisition of Fastrak Retail (UK) Limited
Acquisition of mkodo Limited (note 5)
Acquisition of Compliant Gaming, LLC (note 5)
Charitable gaming asset purchase (note 5)
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Equity (investment) distribution (note 9)
Additions to intangible assets (note 11)

Cash, end of year

33,288

(269)

(5,560)

(3,726)

7,448

11,174

1,888

$

7,448

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

1.

Reporting entity:
Pollard Banknote Limited (“Pollard”) was incorporated under the laws of Canada on March 26, 2010.
The address of Pollard’s registered office is 140 Otter Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada, R3T 0M8.
The consolidated financial statements of Pollard as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020,
comprise Pollard, Pollard’s subsidiaries and its interest in other entities. Pollard is primarily involved
in the manufacture and sale of lottery and charitable gaming products.
The controlling entity of Pollard is Pollard Equities Limited (“Equities”), a privately held company.
Equities owned approximately 67.3% of Pollard’s outstanding shares as at December 31, 2020.

2.

Basis of preparation:
(a) Statement of compliance:
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
On March 10, 2021, Pollard’s Board of Directors approved these consolidated financial
statements.
(b) Basis of preparation:
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except
for the following material items in the statement of financial position:


The pension liability is recognized as the net total of the fair value of plan assets less the
present value of the defined benefit obligation.



The contingent consideration liability is recognized at the present value of the expected
payments to be made under the agreement.

These statements are presented in Canadian dollars, Pollard’s functional currency, and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (except share and per share amounts) unless otherwise
indicated.

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

2.

Basis of preparation (continued):
(c) COVID-19:
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic known as COVID-19.
Our charitable and Diamond Game (“egaming”) businesses were negatively impacted with a large
reduction in sales in the second quarter with the temporary closure of many retail outlets;
however, these sales rebounded to pre-COVID levels in the third quarter with the re-opening of
retail outlets. In the later part of the fourth quarter a number of jurisdictions reenacted temporary
retail closures, reducing our revenues again. Many of these jurisdictions have reopened in early
2021, with consumer demand once again returning. In addition, Pollard’s main lottery products
and services have generated substantial cash flows from operating activities during the year
ended December 31, 2020. The extent of the pandemic’s effect on Pollard’s operational and
financial performance will depend on future developments, including the extent and duration of
the pandemic, both of which are uncertain and difficult to predict. As a result, it is not currently
possible to ascertain the overall financial impact on Pollard’s business. Pollard has cash resources
and unused credit facility available, which management believes will allow Pollard to support its
operations during the pandemic.
All Pollard facilities are now under some level of health state of emergency, or shelter-in-place
order, restricting business activities, movement of people, size of groups and instituting
mandatory quarantine for travelers. Wherever a shelter-in-place order or state of emergency has
been declared, local and federal authorities have identified, under specific acts, which essential
industries remain open and active until further notice. In all affected jurisdictions, Pollard is
classified as an essential government supplier, which has allowed Pollard to continue to operate
throughout the pandemic. As of the date of the consolidated financial statements, all Pollard
facilities are operational. Pollard is extremely dedicated to providing a safe workplace in all
facilities and is working to curb the spread of the virus through implementation of extensive
safety measures at all locations, including daily temperature checks and health screening,
extensive social distancing, restriction of visitors, work from home policies for employees capable
of doing so and use of electronic monitoring to ensure social distancing.
(d) Use of estimates and judgments:
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates
are recognized prospectively. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Information about judgments, assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next period are as follows:

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

2.

Basis of preparation (continued):

Impairment of goodwill:
Pollard determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the “value in use” or “fair value less costs to sell” of the cash-generating units
(“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, to which goodwill is allocated. Estimating value in use requires
Pollard to make estimates of the expected future cash flows from the CGUs, or groups of CGUs,
to which goodwill is allocated. Pollard also chooses suitable discount rates in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Judgment is required in determining the level at which
to test goodwill, including the grouping of CGUs that generate cash inflows. Further details are
provided in note 10.

Employee future benefits:
Accounting for defined benefit plans requires Pollard to use actuarial assumptions. These
assumptions include the discount rate and the rate of compensation increases. These
assumptions depend on underlying factors such as economic conditions, government
regulations, investment performance, employee demographics and mortality rates. Further
details are provided in note 14.

Income taxes:
Pollard is required to evaluate the recoverability of deferred income tax assets. This requires
an estimate of Pollard’s ability to utilize the underlying future income tax deductions against
future taxable income before they expire. In order to evaluate the recoverability of these
deferred income tax assets, Pollard must estimate future taxable income. Further details are
provided in note 12.

Leases:
Upon inception of all leases, Pollard assesses whether it is reasonably certain that lease
extension options will be exercised. Pollard also makes assumptions as to the discount rate
applied to the lease liability upon recognition. If there is a significant event or change in
circumstances within Pollard’s control, these judgments and assumptions could change and
may result in material adjustments to right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities.
Further details are provided in note 8.

Acquisition accounting:
For acquisition accounting purposes, all identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in a business
combination are recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. Estimates and assumptions
are used to calculate the fair value of these assets and liabilities. Changes to assumptions could

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

2.

Basis of preparation (continued):
significantly impact the fair values of certain assets, such as intangible assets. Pollard’s
significant assumptions used in determining the acquisition date fair value of intangible assets
include projected revenue and related gross profit, discount rates and projected revenue
growth rates.

3.

Significant accounting policies:
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements.
(a) Principles of consolidation:
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pollard and all its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are entities which are under Pollard’s control, where control is defined as the power
to govern financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Pollard holds 100% of the voting rights in, and therefore controls, its subsidiaries.
Significant subsidiaries:

Pollard Holdings, Inc.
Pollard (U.S.) Ltd.
Pollard Games, Inc.
Pollard iLottery Inc.
Diamond Game Enterprises
Diamond Game Enterprises Canada ULC
Schafer Systems (2018) Inc.
Fastrak Retail (UK) Limited
mkodo Limited
Compliant Gaming, LLC

Percent Ownership Interest
December 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
–
–

All inter-company balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising
from inter-company transactions, have been eliminated.

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(b) Business combinations:
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets and equity instruments given, and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange.
Acquisition costs for business combinations are expensed as incurred and included in
administration expenses. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at
their fair value at the acquisition date.
The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
As at January 1, 2020, Pollard applied the amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations that
seek to clarify whether a transaction results in an asset or a business acquisition. The
amendments include an election to use a concentration test. This is a simplified assessment that
results in an asset acquisition if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets.
(c) Restricted cash:
Pollard, under certain contractual arrangements, controls cash that is restricted in use. Pollard
records an equal liability classified within accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Restricted cash
includes player deposits held for the benefit of one of Pollard’s iLottery customers, in addition to
funds held for security purposes and certain contractual liabilities. Pollard has excluded changes
in the restricted cash and related liability from its calculation of the change in cash position in
the statements of cash flows.
(d) Revenue recognition:
Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. Pollard
determines revenue recognition through the following steps: a) identification of the contract with
a customer, b) identification of the performance obligations in the contract, c) determination of
the transaction price, d) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
contract and e) recognition of revenue when Pollard satisfies a performance obligation.
Many of Pollard’s contracts have a single performance obligation, including the sale of instant
tickets and related products, pull-tab (or break-open) tickets, bingo paper, pull-tab vending
machines, ancillary products such as pull-tab counting machines and gaming machines. The
single performance obligation in these contracts is the promise to transfer the individual goods.
Revenue is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of a product, which

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
typically takes place when legal title and physical possession of the product is transferred to the
customer. These conditions are usually fulfilled upon delivery. However, under certain contracts,
Pollard is compensated for its products based on its customers’ sales of those products at retail.
Pollard has concluded that control transfers to its customers at delivery of the product to the
customer. As such, recognition of sales under these contracts occurs upon receipt of shipment.
Pollard’s sales under these contracts could vary year over year depending on the timing of
shipments.
Certain Pollard contracts include multiple performance obligations, including license and royalty
sales, iLottery services, loyalty programs, digital and lottery management services, training and
consulting. Where such arrangements exist, the transaction price is allocated to the performance
obligations based upon the relative fair value of the various elements. The fair values of each
element are determined based on the current market price of each of the elements when sold
separately. Revenue is then recognized upon satisfaction of each performance obligation.
Where Pollard provides software and related infrastructure, revenue is recognized over time
based on the relevant measure of progress of the asset being transferred to the customer. Any
amounts recognized as revenue but not yet billed to the customer are recorded as contract assets
and included within accounts receivable.
Pollard earns revenue from gaming machines and other equipment, and capitalizes the costs of
installing gaming equipment. Revenue from the provision of gaming services is generally
recognized as a daily fee or as a percentage of revenue generated by the gaming machines.
Product support services, maintenance and periodic upgrades revenue is recognized over time
as the related services are performed. Labour costs associated with performing routine
maintenance on participating gaming machines is expensed as incurred and included in cost of
sales.
Contract liabilities consist of customer advances for services to be rendered in the future and is
recognized as income in future periods.
Volume rebates are accrued and recorded as a reduction to sales based on historical experience
and management’s expectations regarding future sales volumes.
(e) Inventories:
Raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. The cost of raw material inventory is based on its weighted average cost and
includes all costs incurred to acquire the materials. In addition to the direct costs of conversion,
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
the cost of work-in-process and finished goods, which Pollard manufactures, also includes an
appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion.
(f) Goodwill:
Goodwill is comprised of the excess sale price over the underlying carrying amount of the net
assets sold as at August 5, 2005, as part of the 26.7% of Pollard sold in conjunction with the
Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) and the excess fair value of the consideration transferred over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired of Pollard’s subsidiaries.
(g) Intangible assets:
Expenditures related to internally generated intangible assets are recognized as intangible assets
only if Pollard can demonstrate that the costs can be measured reliably, the product is technically
and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and Pollard has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.

Deferred development
Deferred development consists of the cost of materials, direct labour and related employee
benefits that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use and applicable
borrowing costs incurred in respect of qualifying assets. Other development expenditures are
expensed as incurred.
Capitalized development expenditures are measured at cost less investment tax credits (including
scientific research and experimental development (“SR&ED”) credits), accumulated amortization
and accumulated impairment losses.

Computer software and licenses
Computer software consists of the cost of acquiring, developing and implementing these systems.
Development and implementation costs include third party costs as well as direct labour and
related employee benefits attributable to the asset. Minimum license fees, incurred in connection
with our licensing agreements for our use of third-party brands, are capitalized and amortized
over the estimated life of the asset.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
Capitalized computer software costs and licenses are measured at cost less investment tax credits
(including SR&ED credits), accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Customer assets and patents
Customer assets and patents that have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets, with finite useful lives, are amortized, on a straight-line basis, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
Asset
Customer assets
Patents
Computer software and licenses
Deferred development

Rate
7 to 20 years
Term of patent
3 to 15 years or term of license
5 years

Amortization methods, estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each annual
reporting date and adjusted prospectively if appropriate.
The carrying value of finite useful life intangibles are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.

Trademarks, trade names and brands
Trademarks, trade names and brands have been deemed to have an indefinite life and are not
amortized. For purposes of impairment testing, the fair value of the trademarks, trade names
and brands are tested for impairment on an annual basis.
(h) Property, plant and equipment:
Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) are stated at cost less investment tax credits (including
SR&ED credits), accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and related employee benefits,
other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to working condition for their intended use
and borrowing costs incurred in respect to qualifying assets.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
Major spare parts are treated as PP&E when they have a useful life greater than a year. Once
major spare parts are put in service, they are transferred into equipment and amortized
accordingly.
An item of PP&E is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. The gain or loss on disposal of an item of PP&E is determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying value of the PP&E and is recognized in
the statement of income on a net basis.
The cost of each component of an item of PP&E is depreciated over its estimated useful life on
a straight-line basis, commencing the date it is ready for use. Land is not depreciated. The
estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
Asset
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Equipment
Charitable gaming machines
Furniture, fixtures and computers

Rate
10 to 39 years
Term of lease
2 to 11 years
3 to 8 years
3 to 9 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed each annual reporting date
and adjusted prospectively if appropriate.
The carrying value of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.
(i)

Investment in joint venture:
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities. Joint control is the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require consent of both parties.
The consolidated financial statements include Pollard’s share of the income and expenses and
equity movements of the entity accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(j) Investment in joint operation:
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require consent of both parties.
The consolidated financial statements include Pollard’s interest in the Michigan Lottery iLottery
joint operations: its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities, including
its share of any liabilities incurred jointly and its share of revenue and expenses.
(k) Financial instruments:
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. On initial recognition, Pollard classifies its
financial assets at either amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), depending on its business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, unless Pollard changes
its business model for managing financial assets. Financial liabilities are classified at amortized
cost.
A financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following
conditions: a) the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to
collect contractual cash flows and b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding.
A financial asset is classified as measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions:
a) it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets and b) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.
This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, Pollard may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized
cost or at FVOCI as FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):

Hedge accounting
Pollard sells a significant portion of its products and services to customers in the United States
and to some international customers where sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition, a
significant portion of its cost inputs are denominated in U.S. dollars. Pollard also generates
revenue in currencies other than the Canadian and U.S. dollar, primarily in Euros.
From time to time, Pollard enters into hedging arrangements in order to mitigate this exposure
to foreign exchange fluctuations. Pollard determines the existence of an economic relationship
between the hedging instrument and hedged item based on the currency, amount and timing of
their respective cash flows. An assessment is made whether the derivative designated in each
hedging relationship is expected to be and has been effective in offsetting changes in cash flows
of the hedged item using the hypothetical derivative method.
The fair value of each contract is included on the consolidated balance sheet as either a financial
asset or liability. Changes in fair value are recorded in either other comprehensive income or the
consolidated statement of income, depending on the nature of the hedged item.
If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument is sold,
expires, is terminated or is exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. When
hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated
in the hedging reserve remains in equity until, for a hedge of a transaction resulting in recognition
of a non-financial item, it is included in the non-financial item’s cost on its initial recognition or,
for other cash flow hedges, it is reclassified to the consolidated statement of income in the same
period or periods as the hedged expected future cash flows affects income or loss. If the hedged
future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, the amounts that have been accumulated in
the hedging reserve are immediately reclassified to the consolidated statement of income.
(l)

Impairment:

Financial assets
Pollard applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses, which requires the
use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all accounts receivable. Expected credit
losses are measured as the difference in the present value of the contractual cash flows that are
due under the contract and the cash flows that Pollard expects to receive. The expected cash
flows reflect all available information, including Pollard’s historical experience, the past due
status, and forward-looking macroeconomic factors. Further details are provided in note 26 and
note 27.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):

Non-financial assets
The carrying amount of Pollard’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred income
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when the annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, Pollard estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. For goodwill the
recoverable amount is estimated as of December 31 each year. An impairment loss is recognized
if the carrying amount of an asset, or its related CGU, or group of CGUs, exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset, CGU, or group of CGUs is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, CGU, or group of
CGUs. Pollard calculates fair values using appropriate valuation techniques, which are generally
based on a forecast of expected future cash flows for intangible assets, and on a replacement
cost approach, an income-based approach and/or a market-based approach for property, plant
and equipment. These valuations are closely related to the assumptions made by management
about the future return on the related assets and the discount rate applied.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.
Impairment losses are recognized in net income. Impairment losses recognized in respect to
CGUs or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU or group of
CGUs on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss in respect to goodwill is not reversed.
In respect to other assets, impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss can only be reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying value
that would have been determined, net of amortization, if no impairment had been recognized.
(m) Share capital:
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(n) Translation of foreign currencies:
The functional currency for each of Pollard’s subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to
the respective functional currencies of each entity within the consolidated group using the
exchange rates in effect at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items
measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated to the functional currency using
the exchange rate prevalent at the date of acquisition. Non-monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate prevalent at the date that the fair value was determined.
Foreign currency differences arising from translation are recognized in net income, except for
exchange differences arising on the translation of financial instruments qualifying as a cash flow
hedge, which are recognized directly in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).
The results and financial position of entities within the consolidated group that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:
assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting
period; income and expenses are translated at the average rate for the reporting period; all
resulting exchange differences are recognized in OCI.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in OCI relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognized in net income.
(o) Employee benefits:

Share based compensation
The grant date fair value of stock options granted to employees is recognized as an expense,
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards.
Entities are permitted to make an accounting policy election when accounting for share-based
payment awards that could be accounted for as having been either forfeited or cancelled. Pollard
has elected to treat such circumstances as forfeitures of awards. Refer to note 15.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):

Defined contribution plans
Pollard’s U.S. subsidiaries maintain five defined contribution plans in the United States. The
obligation to contribute to these plans is recognized as an employee benefit expense as incurred.

Defined benefit plans
Pollard maintains four non-contributory defined benefit pension plans in Canada and the United
States, three being final pay plans and one being a flat benefit plan. None of the plans have
indexation features.
The costs of Pollard’s defined benefit plans are recognized over the period in which employees
render service to Pollard in return for the benefits. The defined benefit obligations associated
with the plans are actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on
service and management’s best estimate of salary escalation and retirement ages of employees.
The present value of the defined benefit obligations are determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that have maturity terms
approximating the maturity terms of the related obligation and that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid. The expected return on pension plan assets is
calculated utilizing the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the
beginning of the annual period.
Past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight line basis over the average period
until the benefits becomes vested. If the benefits have vested, past service costs are recognized
in net income immediately.
Remeasurements that arise in calculating the present value of the defined benefit obligation and
the fair value of plan assets are recognized immediately in OCI.
Pollard’s pension asset is limited to the total of any unrecognized past services costs and the
present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the present value of economic
benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that apply to Pollard’s
plans. An economic benefit is available to Pollard if it is realizable during the life of the plan, or
on settlement of the plan liabilities.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(p) Income taxes:
Current income tax and deferred income tax are recognized in the statement of income except
to the extent that the tax relates to items recognized directly in equity or in OCI. Current income
tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period and
any adjustment to tax payable in respect to previous years. Current income tax expense includes
withholding taxes and U.S. state franchise taxes.
Deferred income tax is recorded to reflect the expected future tax consequences of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax basis. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the enacted or substantively enacted
tax rates, which are expected to be in effect when the underlying items of income and expense
are expected to be realized.
Deferred income tax is not recognized for: temporary differences related to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill or temporary
differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment, except if it
relates to an item previously recognized in equity, in which case the adjustment is made to
equity.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current income tax liabilities and assets, and they are levied by the same taxation authority
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities which intend to settle their current income
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
(q) Provisions:
Provisions are recognized when Pollard has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
An onerous contract is a contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. If Pollard has a
contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognized and
measured as a provision.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current
pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost.
(r) Finance costs and finance income:
Finance costs comprises interest expense on borrowings including amortization of deferred
financing costs, interest expense on lease liabilities, accretion of contingent consideration, markto-market losses on foreign exchange contracts and net foreign exchange losses.
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset, that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale, are expensed in the period incurred using the effective interest method.
Finance income comprises mark-to-market gains on foreign exchange contracts and net foreign
exchange gains.
(s) Leases:
At inception of a contract, Pollard assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Pollard recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the lease term.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of
property, plant and equipment. The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, Pollard’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, Pollard
uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, a change in Pollard’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or
extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably
certain not to be exercised.
Pollard presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment” on the statement of
financial position.
Pollard accounts for short-term and low value leases by applying the recognition exemption
available under IFRS 16.
Pollard’s leases are for offices, manufacturing facilities, production equipment and office
equipment.
(t) Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance:
Government subsidies are recognized on an accrual basis when there is reasonable assurance
that Pollard will comply with the conditions required to qualify for the subsidy and that the
collection of the subsidy is also reasonably assured. Government subsidies are recognized on the
consolidated statements of income as an item included within other income over the periods in
which the expense that the subsidy is intended to offset are recognized.
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Future accounting standards:
(a) Amendments to IAS 1 – classification of liabilities as current or non-current:
In January 2020, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued amendments to
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current. For the purposes of non-current classification, the amendments removed the
requirement for a right to defer settlement or roll over a liability for at least twelve months to be
unconditional. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2023. Pollard is currently assessing the impact of the amendment on its consolidated financial
statements.
(b) Amendments to IAS 16 – proceeds before intended use:
In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment Proceeds before Intended Use
(Amendments to IAS 16). The amendments provide guidance on the accounting for sale proceeds
and related production costs for items a company produces and sells in the process of making
an item of property, plant and equipment available for its intended use. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Pollard is currently assessing
the impact of the amendment on its consolidated financial statements.
(c) Amendments to IAS 37 – cost of fulfilling a contract:
In May 2020, the IASB issued Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to
IAS 37). The amendments address the fact that IAS 37 does not specify which costs are included
as a cost of fulfilling a contract when determining whether a contract is onerous. The
amendments clarify that costs of fulfilling a contract comprise both the incremental costs and an
allocation of direct costs. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022. Pollard is currently assessing the impact of the amendment on its consolidated
financial statements.
(d) Amendments to IFRS 9 – interest rate benchmark reform:
In August 2020, the IASB finalized its response to the ongoing reform of inter-bank offered rates
and other interest rate benchmarks by issuing a package of amendments to IFRS standards. The
amendments mainly relate to changes to contractual cash flows and clarify that a company will
not have to derecognize the carrying amount of financial instruments for changes required by
the reform, but will instead update the effective interest rate to reflect the changes to the
alternative benchmark rate. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2021. Pollard is currently assessing the impact of the amendment on its
consolidated financial statements.
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Acquisitions:
(a) mkodo Limited:
On February 3, 2020, Pollard acquired 100% of the share capital of mkodo Limited (“mkodo”), a
provider of digital apps and user interfaces for the lottery and gaming industry worldwide. The
purchase price was funded by proceeds from Pollard’s credit facility and cash on hand. The
acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method. The fair values of the
identifiable assets and liabilities have been based on management’s best estimates and valuation
techniques as at February 3, 2020, the acquisition date.
Cash paid, net of cash acquired of $1,300 and debt assumed of $723
Contingent consideration
Total consideration

$
$

Accounts receivable
Deferred income tax asset
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Property, plant and equipment
Income taxes receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred income tax liability
Net tangible assets acquired (excluding cash acquired and debt assumed)

$

Customer relationships
Technology
Brand
Identifiable intangible assets acquired
Goodwill acquired

$

$

$
$

15,349
2,098
17,447
2,479
305
102
1,429
427
(653)
(273)
(1,125)
(1,380)
1,311
4,670
2,064
1,393
8,127
8,009

The goodwill acquired is largely attributable to the assembled workforce, market share and the
expected synergies and cost savings after integration of mkodo with Pollard. This goodwill is not
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
During the measurement period, new information regarding completion status of a customer
contract, as at the acquisition date, became available. An adjustment to the preliminary purchase
price allocation was required, resulting in a $737 decrease in revenues in excess of billings,
classified within accounts receivable, a $559 increase in identifiable intangible assets acquired, a
$94 increase in the deferred income tax liability, a $126 increase in the deferred tax asset and
an increase of $146 to goodwill.
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Acquisitions (continued):
Acquisition costs related to the mkodo purchase in the year ended December 31, 2020, were
$151. These costs were included in administration expenses.
During the period between February 3, 2020 and December 31, 2020, mkodo generated revenues
of approximately $5,619 and a net loss of $1,616, after depreciation and amortization of the fair
values of identifiable assets acquired, which have been recorded in the consolidated financial
statements.
If mkodo had been acquired on January 1, 2020, incremental revenue of $633 and net income
of $126, after depreciation and amortization of the fair values of identifiable assets acquired,
would have been recognized in the year ended December 31, 2020.
Contingent consideration, based on achievement of certain earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) targets, was estimated and accrued as at the
acquisition date. The earn-out is based on mkodo’s achievement of certain EBITDA targets during
2020 and 2021. The potential payment under the earn-out is unlimited. As at December 31,
2020, Pollard reassessed mkodo’s progress towards achievement of both the 2020 and 2021
EBITDA targets, and determined that it is unlikely that these targets will be achieved. As such,
Pollard adjusted the contingent consideration liability relating to the EBITDA earn-out in the last
quarter of 2020 to nil.
As at December 31, 2020, the acquisition accounting was finalized.
(b) Charitable gaming asset purchase:
On February 6, 2020, Pollard entered into an agreement, approved by the courts, to acquire
certain assets which were being sold under a bankruptcy process. The transaction was subject
to certain closing conditions and closed on March 20, 2020. These assets had previously been
used in the operation of a business producing pull-tab tickets for the lottery and charitable
gaming business. The total purchase price, including transportation, disassembly and
reassembly, and related costs, was $4,895.
(c) Compliant Gaming, LLC:
On December 30, 2020, Pollard acquired 100% of the equity of Complaint Gaming, LLC
(“Compliant”), a leading provider of electronic pull-tab gaming systems and products to the
charitable gaming market. The purchase price was funded by proceeds from Pollard’s credit
facility and cash on hand. The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities have been based on management’s best
estimates and valuation techniques as at December 30, 2020, the acquisition date.
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Acquisitions (continued):
Cash paid
Contingent consideration
Total consideration
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Property, plant and equipment
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Contract liabilities
Net tangible assets acquired
Customer relationships
Game Library
Software
Identifiable intangible assets acquired
Goodwill acquired

$
$
$

$
$
$
$

24,349
5,239
29,588
46
44
453
(155)
(110)
278
13,084
2,907
1,398
17,389
11,921

The goodwill acquired is largely attributable to the assembled workforce, market share and the
expected revenue synergies and cost savings after integration of Compliant with Pollard. This
goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The fair values of identifiable assets and
liabilities acquired are preliminary and are subject to change if new information becomes available
during the measurement period.
Acquisition costs related to the Compliant purchase in the year ended December 31, 2020, were
$124. These costs were included in administration expenses.
If Compliant had been acquired on January 1, 2020, incremental revenue of $4,105 and net
income of $399, after depreciation and amortization of the fair values of identifiable assets
acquired, would have been recognized in the year ended December 31, 2020.
Contingent consideration, based on achievement of certain earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) targets, may be paid to the vendor. The earn-out is
based on Compliant’s achievement of certain EBITDA targets during 2021 and 2022. The
potential payment under the earn-out is unlimited. As at December 31, 2020, Pollard has accrued
$4,232 within current liabilities and $1,007 within non-current liabilities relating to the contingent
consideration.
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(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

6.

Inventories:
December 31,
2020
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods

December 31,
2019

$

16,756
2,209
27,655

$

17,957
1,726
22,857

$

46,620

$

42,540

During 2020, Pollard recorded inventory write-downs of $704 representing an increase in the
obsolescence reserves and write-downs of $8 due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
During 2019, Pollard recorded inventory write-downs of $580 representing an increase in the
obsolescence reserves and write-downs of $46 due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The cost of sales reflects the costs of inventory including direct material, direct labour and
manufacturing overheads.
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(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

7.

Property, plant and equipment:

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2019
Recognition of right-ofuse assets on initial
application of IFRS 16 –
January 1, 2019

Land
$ 1,731

Buildings
19,992

Assets in
Furniture,
fixtures and progress &
computers spare parts

Leasehold
improvements

Equipment

5,061

170,385

7,366

132

397

–

18,279
1,647

–

17,750

Acquisitions

–

321

128

1,170

28

–

Additions/net transfers*

–

2,684

247

17,096

453

(382)

Disposals

–

–

–

(1,361)

–

(39)

(557)

(1,184)

(28)

Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Balance at December 31,
2019

$ 1,692

Acquisitions (note 5)
Additions/net transfers
Disposals
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Balance at December 31,
2020

–

8,997

(40)

40,190

5,396

186,238

8,216

–

1,125

150

562

45

464

5,495

744

13,865

682

–

–

(24)

(440)

$ 2,132

46,370

–
(40)
6,250

(866)
(1,027)
198,772

213,532

20,098

–

(1,361)

(120)

(1,968)

8,495
–
1,868

–

–

(27)

(133)

8,916

Total

10,230

250,227
1,882
23,118
(866)
(1,691)
272,670

*Included within additions/net transfers in 2019 is $1,097 of machine costs previously classified as inventory, which
were reclassified to property, plant and equipment during 2019.

Accumulated
depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2019

Land Buildings

Equipment

Assets in
Furniture,
fixtures and progress &
computers spare parts

Total

–

5,727

2,466

129,108

4,625

–

141,926

Depreciation for the year

–

5,265

391

12,376

433

–

18,465

Disposals

–

–

(1,343)

–

–

(1,343)

(600)

(10)

–

(725)

Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Balance at December 31,
2019

$

Leasehold
improvements

–

(72)

(43)

–

10,920

2,814

139,541

5,048

–

158,323

Depreciation for the year

–

5,667

504

13,055

370

–

19,596

Disposals

–

–

(866)

–

–

(866)

–

(123)

(620)

(10)

–

(779)

Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Balance at December 31,
2020

$

–

$

–

16,464

–
(26)
3,292

151,110

5,408

–

176,274

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

7.

Property, plant and equipment (continued):

Carrying amounts

8.

Land Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Equipment

Assets in
Furniture,
fixture and progress &
computers spare parts

Total

At December 31, 2019

$ 1,692

29,270

2,582

46,697

3,168

8,495

91,904

At December 31, 2020

$ 2,132

29,906

2,958

47,662

3,508

10,230

96,396

Leases:
Pollard’s leases are for offices, manufacturing facilities, production equipment and office equipment.
Pollard presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment” on the condensed
consolidated statement of financial position. The following tables present continuity schedules of
Pollard’s right-of-use assets by asset class:

Balance at January 1, 2019

$

Acquisitions
Additions
Depreciation
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Balance at December 31, 2019

$

Acquisitions (note 5)
Additions
Depreciation
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Balance at December 31, 2020

$

Buildings

Equipment

Furniture,
fixtures and
computers

17,750

132

397

18,279

322
1,756
(4,492)

100
–
(72)

–

5
(178)

422
1,761
(4,742)

(104)

(18)

(9)

(131)

Total

15,232

142

215

15,589

1,125
5,071
(5,050)

–
180
(138)

–
–
(215)

1,125
5,251
(5,403)

(269)

(6)

16,109

178

–
–

(275)
16,287

Pollard’s total cash outflows, principal and interest relating to its lease obligations classified under
IFRS 16 Leases for the year ended December 31, 2020 were $5,752 (2019 – $5,039).
Pollard’s interest expenses incurred relating to its lease obligations classified under IFRS 16 Leases
for the year ended December 31, 2020 were $654 (2019 – $662).
The following is a schedule of lease payment commitments outstanding relating to lease obligations
classified under IFRS 16:
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8.

Leases (continued):
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 and thereafter
Total undiscounted cash flows
Discounting
Total discounted cash flows
Less: current portion lease liabilities

$

$
$

Lease liabilities
9.

5,740
5,275
4,228
1,431
1,946
18,620
(1,679)
16,941
(5,109)

$

11,832

Equity investment:
December 31,
2020

Interest in joint venture
Balance, beginning of year
Investment (distribution)
Equity income (loss)
Effects of movements in exchange rates

$

Balance, end of year

$

1,161
(1,860)
1,587
(7)
881

December 31,
2019
$

1,164
3,997
(3,942)
(58)

$

1,161

Pollard, in conjunction with NeoGames US, LLP, operates NeoPollard Interactive (“NPi”). The entity
was established to provide iLottery services in the United States and Canada, excluding the State of
Michigan.
Pollard and Neogames S.A. operate the iLottery operation for the Michigan Lottery under a separate
joint operating agreement. Pollard recognizes its interest in the joint operation by including its assets,
including its share of any assets held jointly, its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly and its share of revenue and expenses.
10.

Goodwill:
December 31,
2020
Balance, beginning of year
Acquisition of Fastrak Retail (UK) Limited
Acquisition of mkodo (note 5)
Acquisition of Compliant (note 5)
Effects of movements in exchange rates

$

Balance, end of year

$

69,993

December 31,
2019
$

–

8,009
11,921
(647)
89,276

69,667
2,239
–
–

(1,913)
$

69,993
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10.

Goodwill (continued):
Impairment assessment methodology
Pollard performs its annual goodwill impairment test as at December 31. Goodwill has been allocated
as follows to Pollard’s CGUs and groups of CGUs:
December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Lotteries
Charitable gaming
Diamond Game
Retail

$

38,921
12,630
26,601
11,124

$

30,816
12,898
14,991
11,288

Total

$

89,276

$

69,993

For each CGU, or group of CGUs, the recoverable amounts have been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial forecasts approved by senior
management. These forecasts cover a period of five years and reflect an estimate of a terminal value.
Included in these forecasts is an assumption of certain growth rates which was based on historical
trends and expected future performance.
The calculation of value in use for the CGUs, or groups of CGUs described above are most sensitive
to the following key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:





Revenue and related gross profit
Foreign exchange rates
Discount rates
Growth rates

Revenue and related gross profit
Projected cash flows from revenue assumes the continuation of recent historical trends adjusted for
expected new contract wins, anticipated contract renewal pricing pressures and the expected impact
of sales initiatives in conjunction with certain production efficiencies that are being developed or are
expected to be developed.
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10.

Goodwill (continued):

Foreign exchange rates
A significant portion of revenue is denominated in U.S. dollars and Euros, partially offset by U.S.
dollar denominated costs. In addition, certain financial assets and liabilities are denominated in U.S.
currency. Projected cash flows assume an estimated exchange rate between Canadian dollars to U.S.
dollars and Euros based on expected exchange rates during the forecast period.

Discount rates
Discount rates were calculated based on the estimated cost of equity capital and debt capital
considering data and factors relevant to the economy, the industry and the CGUs, and groups of
CGUs. These costs were then weighted in terms of a typical industry capital structure to arrive at an
estimated weighted average cost of capital. The after-tax discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections for the CGUs and groups of CGUs described above were as follows:
Lotteries
Charitable Gaming
Diamond Game
Retail

12.0%
12.0%
15.0%
14.7%

Growth rates
Growth rates are based on estimated sustainable long-term growth rates of the CGUs, and groups
of CGUs. A terminal value of 2% was applied in the value in use calculations for all of the above
CGUs and groups of CGUs.
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
the recoverable amounts of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, are based would not cause the unit’s
carrying amounts to exceed its recoverable amount.
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11.

Intangible assets:

Customer
assets

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2019

$

Asset reclassifications

–

Acquisitions

Balance at December 31, 2019

$

Acquisitions (note 5)

$

4,503

Deferred
development

Total

1,639

19,017

78,054

–

–

662

361

457

–

–

–

160

25

–

479

664

–

–

–

154

7,841

7,995

(1,379)

(63)

(222)

–

48,635

6,447

17,754

Additions (net of investment
tax credits)
Additions – internally
developed (net of
investment tax credits)
Effect of movements in
exchange rates

6,651

Trademarks
and brands

(662)

3,770

Additions (net of investment
tax credits)
Additions – internally
developed (net of
investment tax credits)*
Effect of movements in
exchange rates

Balance at December 31, 2020

46,244

Patents

Computer
software
and
licenses

–

4,763
1,393
(19)

1,793

4,588

(2,053)

27,610

89,248

–

6,369

25,516

–

30

424

5,554

5,554

–

413

–

–

–

–

(452)

(8)

(69)

–

65,937

6,852

6,068

(389)

–

1,793

(386)
39,177

(915)
119,827

*Included within additions – internally developed (net of investment tax credits) is $106 of software costs
previously classified as inventory, which were reclassified to intangible assets during 2019.

Accumulated amortization
Balance at January 1, 2019

$

Asset reclassifications

18,342

5,118

4,294

Effect of movements in
exchange rates

(184)
$

Amortization for the year
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Balance at December 31, 2020

Patents

–

Amortization for the year

Balance at December 31, 2019

Customer
assets

–

Deferred
development
1,246

Total

3,262

27,968

(62)

–

–

62

167

–

102

2,823

(13)

–

–

(116)

–
7,386
(313)

22,452

5,210

–

1,348

6,031

35,041

4,956

178

–

120

5,831

11,085

–

–

(185)

(252)
$

Trademarks
and brands

Computer
software
and
licenses

27,156

(8)
5,380

–

1,468

11,677

(445)
45,681
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11.

Intangible assets (continued):

Carrying amounts
At December 31, 2019
At December 31, 2020

$
$

Customer
assets

Patents

Trademarks
and brands

Deferred
development

Computer
software
and
licenses

26,183
38,781

1,237
1,472

4,763
6,068

445
325

21,579
27,500

Total

54,207
74,146

Amortization of intangible assets in 2020 of $11,085 (2019 – $7,386), was included in cost of sales.
As at December 31, 2020, the weighted average remaining useful life of customer assets was 8.0
years and the weighted average remaining useful life of computer software and licenses was 5.4
years.
12.

Income taxes:
Income tax expense
2020

2019

Current
Deferred

$

10,955
1,899

$

2,136
4,848

Total

$

12,854

$

6,984

Income tax recognized in other comprehensive loss
Amount
before
tax
Defined benefit plans
remeasurements
loss

$

(10,397)

Tax
benefit

2,748

2020
Amount
net of tax

(7,649) $

Amount
before
tax

(7,300)

Tax
expense

1,891

2019
Amount
net of tax

(5,409)
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12.

Income taxes (continued):
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2020
Net income for the year
Total income tax expense

2020
$

33,288
12,854

$

46,142
12,458

2019

2019
$

22,017
6,984

$

29,001
7,829

Income before income taxes
Income tax using Pollard's domestic tax rate

27.0%

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions

(1.4%)

(641)

(2.2%)

(632)

Non-deductible amounts

0.8%

387

0.7%

198

Non-deductible items relating to
acquisitions

0.3%

134

1.1%

329

Other items

0.8%

384

(0.5%)

(162)

Effect of non-taxable items related to
foreign exchange

0.3%

132

(2.0%)

(578)

27.8%

$

27.0%

12,854

24.1%

$

6,984

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

Recognized deferred income tax assets and liabilities
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Assets
2020
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Employee benefits
Unrealized foreign
exchange (gains)
and losses
Unused tax losses
Contract liabilities
Other
Tax assets (liabilities)

$

$

Liabilities
2020

2019

–
1,612
272
11,582

–
2,253
228
9,070

202
1,370
–
634

487
994
45
301

15,672

13,378

$

(14,360)
(6,207)
–
(1,500)
(564)
–
(411)
(100)

$

(23,142)

2019

(12,375) $
(5,913)
–
(1,377)

Net
2020

2019

(14,360)
(4,595)
272
10,082

(12,375)
(3,660)
228
7,693

(655)
–
(247)
(275)

(362)
1,370
(411)
534

(168)
994
(202)
26

(20,842) $

(7,470)

(7,464)
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12.

Income taxes (continued):

Movement in temporary differences during the year

January 1,
2020

Recognized
in profit or
loss

Acquisitions

Recognized in
other
comprehensive
income

Balance
December 31,
2020

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Employee benefits
Unrealized foreign exchange gains
Unused tax losses
Contract liabilities
Other

$

(12,375)
(3,660)
228
7,708
(183)
994
(202)
26

(1,985)
142
44
(377)
(177)
376
(209)
508

–
(1,076)
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
2,748
–
–
–
–

(14,360)
(4,594)
272
10,079
(360)
1,370
(411)
534

Tax assets (liabilities)

$

(7,464)

(1,678)

(1,076)

2,748

(7,470)

January 1,
2019

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Employee benefits
Unrealized foreign exchange
(gains) and losses
Unused tax losses
Contract liabilities
Other

$

Tax assets (liabilities)

$

Recognized
in profit or
loss

Acquisitions

(9,296)
(3,113)
202
6,182

(2,942)
310
26
(365)

(137)
(857)
–
–

252
2,094
57
(135)

(435)
(1,100)
(259)
161

–
–
–
–

(3,757)

(4,604)

(994)

Recognized in
other
comprehensive
income

–
–
–
1,891
–
–
–
–
1,891

Balance
December 31,
2019

(12,375)
(3,660)
228
7,708
(183)
994
(202)
26
(7,464)

Recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:
2020
Deferred income tax expense
Finance loss

2019

$

1,899
(221)

$

4,848
(244)

$

1,678

$

4,604

Amounts included in finance loss relate to unrealized foreign exchange.
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13.

Long-term debt:
December 31,
2020
Credit facility, interest of 1.9% to 4.2%, payable
monthly, maturing 2022

$

131,365

Deferred financing charges, net of amortization

Credit facility

$

Net proceeds
Payment of deferred financing
charges
Total changes from financing
cash flows

Net proceeds (payments)
Payment of deferred financing
charges
Total changes from financing
cash flows

Balance at December 31, 2019

–

5,055

(128)

–

–

5,055

(128)

–

–

4,927

(1,510)

–

–

–

(1,510)

368

–

–

368

–

–

(285)

–

–

131,365

Deferred
financing

(128)

368
(1,142)
131,080

Equipment
debt

Equipment
lease

Total

116,177

(421)

4

36

115,796

14,361

–

(4)

(36)

14,321

(450)

–

14,361

(450)

(4)

(2,718)

–

–

–

346

–

–

346

–

–

(525)

–

–

(2,718)
$

Total

–

–

Total other changes

Equipment
lease

–

–

Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Amortization of deferred
financing charges

Equipment
debt

127,295

127,295

(1,510)

$

Deferred
financing

$

–

Credit facility

Balance at January 1, 2019

131,080

(525)

–

–

$

127,820

(525)

–

Total other changes
Balance at December 31, 2020

127,820
5,055

Effect of movements in
exchange rates
Amortization of deferred
financing charges

$

(285)
$

Balance at January 1, 2020

December 31,
2019

127,820

–
(36)

(450)
13,871
(2,718)
346
(2,372)
127,295
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13.

Long-term debt (continued):

(a)

Credit facility:
Effective December 31, 2019, Pollard renewed its credit facility. The credit facility provides loans of
up to $190,000 for its Canadian operations and US$14,000 for its U.S. subsidiaries. The credit facility
also includes an accordion feature which can increase the facility by $35,000. The borrowings for the
Canadian operations can be denominated in Canadian or U.S. dollars, to a maximum of $190,000
Canadian equivalent. Borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at fixed and floating rates
based on Canadian and U.S. prime bank rates, banker’s acceptances or LIBOR. At December 31,
2020, the outstanding letters of guarantee drawn under the credit facility were $712 (2019 –
$10,704).
Included in the total credit facility balance is a U.S. dollar denominated balance of US$55,900 (2019
– US$36,400). As of December 31, 2020, Pollard had unused credit facility available of $75,745 (2019
– $69,676).
Under the terms and conditions of the credit facility agreement Pollard is required to maintain certain
financial covenants including debt to income before interest, income taxes, amortization, depreciation
and certain other items (“Adjusted EBITDA”) ratios and certain debt service coverage ratios. As at
December 31, 2020, Pollard is in compliance with all financial covenants.
Pollard’s credit facility is secured by a first security interest in all of the present and after acquired
property of Pollard. Under the terms of the agreement the facility is committed for a three-year
period, renewable December 31, 2022. Principal payments are not required until maturity. The facility
can be prepaid without penalties.

(b)

Economic Development Canada (“EDC”) facility:
Effective February 28, 2020, Pollard entered into an agreement with EDC to provide a €15,000 facility
whereby Pollard can issue qualifying letters of credit against the EDC facility. The facility is guaranteed
by a general indemnity from Pollard. As of December 31, 2020, the outstanding letters of credit
drawn on this facility were $10,960 (€7,048).

14.

Pension liability:
December 31,
2020
Fair value of benefit plan assets
Present value of benefit plan obligations

$

Net pension liability

$

December 31,
2019

77,351 $
(113,721))
(36,370)

$

65,481
(92,028)
(26,547)
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14.

Pension liability (continued):
Pollard sponsors non-contributory defined benefit plans providing pension benefits to its employees.
Pollard has four defined benefit pension plans of which three are final pay plans and one is a flat
benefit plan. None of the plans have indexation features. The measurement date for all the plans is
December 31. Two of the plans of the U.S. subsidiaries require valuations annually with the last
valuations being as of January 1, 2020. One of the Canadian plans of Pollard currently requires
valuation every year with the last valuation as of December 31, 2019. Pollard’s other Canadian plan’s
valuation was as of January 1, 2017. Pollard’s U.S. subsidiaries also maintain five defined contribution
plans. The pension expense for these defined contribution plans is the annual funding contribution
by the subsidiaries.
Pollard expects to contribute approximately $4,850 to its defined benefit plans in 2021.
The benefit plan assets are held in trust and are invested as follows:

Equities
Bonds
Cash and cash equivalents

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

62.6%
35.9%
1.5%

61.0%
36.6%
2.4%

100.0%

100.0%

Information about Pollard’s defined benefit plans, in aggregate, is as follows:
2020

2019

Benefit plan assets
Fair value, beginning of year
Expected return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Remeasurement gains
Effect of movements in exchange rates

$

65,481
2,137
7,309
(2,791)
5,460
(245)

$

52,946
2,163
6,310
(2,281)
6,689
(346)

Fair value, end of year

$

77,351

$

65,481
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14.

Pension liability (continued):
2020

2019

Accrued benefit plan obligations
Balance, beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Remeasurement losses
Effect of movements in exchange rates

$

Balance, end of year

$

Net pension liability

$

92,028
6,115
2,878
(2,791)
15,743
(252)

$

73,303
4,656
2,858
(2,281)
13,948
(456)

113,721

$

92,028

(36,370)

$

(26,547)

The total net cost for Pollard’s defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans recognized in
cost of sales is as follows:
2020

2019

Net defined benefit plans expense
Current service cost
Interest on plan obligations
Actual return on plan assets
Difference between expected return and actual
return on plan assets

$

Net defined benefit plans expense
Defined contribution plans expense
Net pension plans expense

$

6,115
2,878
(7,597)

$

4,656
2,858
(8,852)

5,906

7,059

7,302

5,721

843

755

8,145

$

6,476

Actuarial assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions used in measuring at the reporting date are as follows:

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2020

2019

2.2% to 3.1%
0% to 3.0%

3.1% to 3.7%
0% to 3.0%
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14.

Pension liability (continued):
Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables.
As of December 31, 2020, Pollard used CPM2014 Private Sector projected CPM-B mortality table for
its Canadian subsidiary’s pension plans and the Pri-2012 mortality tables using scale MP-2020 for its
U.S. subsidiary’s pension plans. As of December 31, 2019, Pollard used CPM2014 Private Sector
projected CPM-B mortality table for its Canadian subsidiary’s pension plans and the Pri-2012 mortality
tables using scale MP-2019 for its U.S. subsidiary’s pension plans.
Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions,
holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the
amounts show below:
Increase
Discount rate (1% movement)
Rate of compensation (1% movement)
Future mortality (one year)

$
$
$

(21,833)
3,028
1,713

Decrease
$
$
$

29,460
(2,815)
(1,722)

Remeasurements
2020
Remeasurement gains arising on plan assets

2019

$

5,460

$

6,689

$

(70)
13,996
1,817

$

(232)
14,240
(60)

$

15,743

$

13,948

Remeasurement losses (gains) arising on plan
liabilities from:
Demographic assumptions
Financial assumptions
Experience adjustments
Remeasurement losses arising on plan liabilities

Remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income
2020
Losses accumulated in retained earnings, beginning
of year
Remeasurement losses recognized during the year,
net of income tax
Losses accumulated in retained earnings, end of year

$

(22,082)

2019
$

(7,649)
$

(29,731)

(16,673)
(5,409)

$

(22,082)
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15.

Share capital:
Shares

Amount

Authorized
Unlimited common shares
Unlimited preferred shares
Issued
Balance at January 1, 2019
Stock option exercise

25,625,658
10,000

Balance at December 31, 2019
Stock option exercises

25,635,658
71,250

Balance at December 31, 2020

25,706,908

$

108,605
37
108,642
365

$

109,007

Ownership restrictions:
The holders of the common shares are entitled to one vote in respect to each common share held,
subject to the Board of Directors ability to take constraint actions when a person, or group of persons
acting in concert acquires, agrees to acquire, holds, beneficially owns or controls, either directly or
indirectly, a number of shares equal to or in excess of 5% of the common shares (on a non-diluted
basis) issued and outstanding (“Ownership Threshold”). The Board of Directors, in its sole discretion,
can take the following constraint actions:


place a stop transfer on all or any of the common shares believed to be in excess of the
Ownership Threshold;



suspend all voting and/or dividend rights on all or any of common share held believed to be
in excess of the Ownership Threshold;



apply to a court seeking an injunction to prevent a person from acquiring, holding, owning,
controlling and/or directing, directly or indirectly, common shares in excess of the Ownership
Threshold; and/or



make application to the relevant securities commission to effect a cease trading order or
such similar restriction, until the person no longer controls common shares equal to or in
excess of the Ownership Threshold.

In addition, if a Gaming Regulatory Authority has determined that ownership by a holder of common
shares is inconsistent with its declared policies, the Board of Directors is entitled to take constraint
action against such shareholder. Any person who controls common shares equal to or in excess of
the Ownership Threshold, may be required to file an application, be investigated and have suitability
as a shareholder determined by a Gaming Regulatory Authority, if such Gaming Regulatory Authority
has reason to believe such ownership would otherwise be inconsistent with its declared policies.
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15.

Share capital (continued):
The shareholder must pay all the costs of the investigation incurred by any such Gaming Regulatory
Authority.

Capital management:
Pollard’s objectives in managing capital are to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Pollard
also strives to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the overall cost of capital.
In the management of capital, Pollard includes long-term debt, share capital and retained earnings,
but excludes reserves. The Board of Directors regularly monitors the levels of debt, equity and
dividends.
Pollard monitors capital on the basis of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA, working capital ratio and
debt service coverage. Pollard has externally imposed capital requirements as determined through
its bank credit facility. As at December 31, 2020, Pollard is in compliance with all financial covenants.
There were no changes in Pollard’s approach to capital management during the current period.

Dividends:
Dividends are paid on the common shares within 15 days of the end of each quarter and are fully
discretionary, as determined by the Board of Directors of Pollard.
On November 9, 2020, a dividend of $0.04 per share was declared, paid on January 15, 2021, to the
shareholders of record on December 31, 2020.

Share based compensation:
Under the Pollard Banknote Limited Stock Option Plan the Board of Directors has the authority to
grant options to purchase common shares to eligible persons and to determine the applicable terms.
The aggregate maximum number of common shares available for issuance from Pollard’s treasury
under the Option Plan is 2,354,315 common shares.
Changes in the number of options outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019
were as follows:
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15.

Share Capital (continued):
2020
Number

2019

Weighted
average
exercise price

Number

Weighted
average
exercise price

Balance, beginning of year
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised

377,500
50,000
(25,000)
(71,250)

$
$
$
$

12.82
20.98
20.70
4.19

237,500
150,000
–
(10,000)

$
$
$
$

7.46
20.70
–
3.63

Balance, end of year

331,250

$

15.31

377,500

$

12.82

As of December 31, 2020, no share options had expired. Options have been granted on six grant
dates, with the exercise price being the common share price on the exercise price determination
date. All of the outstanding options have seven year terms, vesting 25% per year over the first four
years.

Exercise
price
$
$
$
$
$
$

Number
outstanding

3.63
8.12
10.00
20.70
18.31
23.65

12,500
25,000
118,750
125,000
25,000
25,000

2020
Remaining
time to
exercise
0.19
2.76
3.32
5.86
6.21
6.87

years
years
years
years
years
years

331,250

Number
exercisable

Number
outstanding

12,500
25,000
93,750
31,250
–
–

77,500
25,000
125,000
150,000
–
–

162,500

377,500

2019
Remaining
time to
exercise
1.19
3.76
4.32
6.86

Number
exercisable

years
years
years
years
–
–

77,500
18,750
62,500
–
–
–
158,750

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the following share options were granted:
Option grant date
Fair value at grant date
Number of options granted
Share price
Exercise price
Exercise price determination date
Expected volatility
Option life (expected weighted average life)
Risk-free interest rate (based on Canadian
government bonds)

March 16, 2020
$
$
$

4.38
25,000
18.31
18.31
March 13, 2020
32.1%
4.75 years
0.6% to 0.7%

November 12, 2020
$
$
$

6.21
25,000
23.65
23.65
November 11, 2020
33.9%
4.75 years
0.3% to 0.4%
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15.

Share Capital (continued):
The grant date fair value of these options was determined based on the Black-Scholes formula.
Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility.

16.

Commitments and contingencies:
Pollard rents premises and equipment under long-term leases. The following is a schedule of
undiscounted lease payment commitments outstanding relating to short-term and low value leases
to which Pollard has applied the recognition exemption available under IFRS 16 Leases:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 and thereafter

$

300
121
112
111
88

Pollard is contingently liable for outstanding letters of guarantee in the amount of $11,672 at
December 31, 2020 (2019 – $10,704). These letters of guarantee are secured as disclosed in note
13.
During 2008, Pollard entered into a sale leaseback with an affiliate of Equities for land and building
in Council Bluffs, Iowa. The property was sold for $4,081 and leased back for ten years at an annual
lease rate of approximately US$260. During 2019, Pollard entered into a new lease. The new lease
covers the period from January 2019 to December 2023. The base rental rate is approximately
US$375, which is based on the current market value as determined through an independent
appraisal.
Also in 2008, Pollard entered into a lease with an affiliate of Equities for a manufacturing facility in
Winnipeg, Manitoba. The lease was for a 12 year 6 month period, ending March 31, 2021, at an
annual base rate of approximately $2,453. In 2015, Pollard agreed to exercise its renewal clause.
The renewal covers the period from April 2021 to September 2023 with an approximate annual lease
rate of $2,400, including an annual amortization of a leasehold improvement allowance of
approximately $1,000. The total leasehold allowance is $2,500. The base rental rate was based on
current market value as determined through an independent appraisal.
During 2011, Pollard entered into a sale leaseback with an affiliate of Equities for land and building
in Winnipeg, Manitoba. The property was sold for $3,473 and leased back for five years (with an
option to renew its lease for an additional five year term) for annual rent of $313 per year. The rental
rate was based on current market value as determined through an independent appraisal. The sale
value was determined through an independent appraisal. During 2016, Pollard exercised its option
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16.

Commitments and contingencies (continued):
to renew its lease for an additional five year term for annual rent of $363 per year. The rental rate
was based on current market value as determined through an independent appraisal.
Pollard is involved in litigation and claims associated with operations, the aggregate amounts of which
are not determinable. While it is not possible to estimate the outcome of the proceedings,
management is of the opinion that any resulting settlements would not materially affect the financial
position of Pollard. Should a loss occur on resolution of these claims, such loss would be accounted
for as a charge to income in the period in which the settlement occurs.
Pollard has agreed to indemnify Pollard’s current and former directors and officers from and against
liability and costs in respect of any action or suit against them in connection with the execution of
their duties of office, subject to certain usual limitations. No claims with respect to such occurrences
have been made and, as such, no amount has been recorded in these financial statements with
respect to these indemnifications.

17.

Revenue and contract balances:
In the following tables, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by geographical
segment and product line:
Revenue – geographical segment

Year ended December 31, 2020
Lotteries and
charitable
gaming
Diamond Game

Total

Canada
United States
International

$

75,219
231,971
84,391

$

4,157
18,396
–

$

79,376
250,367
84,391

Total

$

391,581

$

22,553

$

414,134
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17.

Revenue and contract balances (continued):
Year ended December 31, 2019 (1)
Lotteries and
charitable
gaming
Diamond Game

Revenue – geographical segment

Total

Canada
United States
International

$

71,883
216,480
77,484

$

9,879
22,113
–

$

81,762
238,593
77,484

Total

$

365,847

$

31,992

$

397,839

Year ended December 31, 2020
Lotteries and
charitable
gaming
Diamond Game

Total

Revenue – product lines

Lottery
Charitable
Gaming systems

$

348,359
43,222
–

$

–
–
22,553

$

348,359
43,222
22,553

Total

$

391,581

$

22,553

$

414,134

Year ended December 31, 2019 (1)
Lotteries and
charitable
gaming
Diamond Game

Total

Revenue – product lines

Lottery
Charitable
Gaming systems

$

309,453
56,394
–

$

–
–
31,992

$

309,453
56,394
31,992

Total

$

365,847

$

31,992

$

397,839

(1)

Effective January 1, 2020, the Oasis egaming division was transferred from International Gamco (Charitable) to Diamond Game
(Gaming Systems), comparative figures have been restated.

The following tables provide information about receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities
from contracts with customers:
December 31,
2020

Contract balances
Trade receivables, which are included in accounts
receivable
Contract assets, which are included in accounts
receivable
Contract liabilities

$

56,376
6,643
379

December 31,
2019
$

50,730
3,491
–
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17.

Revenue and contract balances (continued):
Year ended
December 31,
2020

Contract liabilities
Balance, beginning of year
Acquisition
Increases due to cash received
Revenue recognized during the year
Effect of movement in exchange rates

$

$

857
–
–
(857)
–

Balance, end of year

379

–

Less current portion

(379)

–

$
18.

–
388
1,872
(1,886)
5

Year ended
December 31,
2019

–

$

–

Other income:
2020
EBITDA support agreement income
Canada emergency wage subsidy (“CEWS”)
Reversal of contingent consideration (note 5)
Other (income) expenses

2019

$

(1,000)
(8,984)
(2,137)
(243)

$

(2,000)
–
(192)
205

$

(12,364)

$

(1,987)

Canada emergency wage subsidy
Pollard has elected to account for CEWS earned in 2020 within other income on the consolidated
statements of income. As a portion of Pollard’s labour expenses are capitalized in inventory, the
amount recorded within other income is net of an adjustment of $166 to defer the wage subsidy
income recognition for the portion of the subsidy that can be attributed to capitalized labour for
inventory that had not been sold as at December 31, 2020.

EBITDA support agreement
One of Pollard’s subsidiaries, Diamond Game, previously entered into an EBITDA support agreement
with Amaya Inc. pursuant to which, subject to certain terms and conditions, Amaya Inc. will pay
Diamond Game each year for up to five years from July 1, 2015, an amount equal to the shortfall, if
any, between (i) Diamond Game’s EBITDA directly or indirectly derived from the deployment of
Diamond Game’s products at certain entertainment centers or in connection with Diamond Game’s
relationship with a certain customer, and (ii) $2,000. This agreement expired on June 30, 2020.
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19.

Finance costs and finance income:
Finance costs
Foreign exchange loss
Interest

2020
$

6,083
4,841

$

1,129
6,415

$

10,924

$

7,544

Finance income
Foreign exchange gain

20.

2019

2020

2019

$

7,025

$

3,931

$

7,025

$

3,931

Net income per share:
2020
Net income attributable to shareholders for basic
and diluted net income per share

21.

$

33,288

2019
$

22,017

Weighted average number of shares (basic)
Weighted average impact of share options

25,644,487
379,287

25,632,645
252,705

Weighted average number of shares (diluted)

26,023,774

25,885,350

Net income per share (basic)

$

1.30

$

0.86

Net income per share (diluted)

$

1.28

$

0.86

Personnel expenses:
2020
Wages and salaries
Benefits and government payroll remittances
Profit share
Expenses related to defined contribution plans
Expenses related to defined benefit plans

2019

$

124,618
20,147
5,740
992
7,301

$

116,277
18,609
2,838
755
5,721

$

158,798

$

144,200
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22.

Supplementary cash flow information:
2020
Change in non-cash operating working capital:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Income taxes
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Contract liabilities

23.

2019

$

(6,558)
(4,753)
196
(718)
869
(9)

$

(21,573)
756
(607)
(742)
656
(798)

$

(10,973)

$

(22,308)

Related party transactions:

Pollard Equities Limited and affiliates
During the year ended December 31, 2020, Pollard paid property rent of $3,420 (2019 – $3,238) and
$208 (2019 – $436) in plane charter costs to affiliates of Equities.
During the year, Equities paid Pollard $72 (2019 – $72) for accounting and administration fees.
At December 31, 2020, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is an amount owing to
Equities and its affiliates for rent, expenses and other items of $454 (2019 – $456).
Included within property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities on the consolidated statement of
financial position are right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities for premises leased to Pollard
from Equities. As at December 31, 2020, the net book value of the right-of-use assets was $7,715
(2019 - $10,803) and the present value of the lease liabilities was $7,887 (2019 - $11,787).

Neogames S.A. and affiliates
During the year ended December 31, 2020, Pollard reimbursed operating costs and paid software
royalties of $9,627 (2019 – $5,728) to its iLottery partner, which are recorded in cost of sales.
At December 31, 2020, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is a net amount owing to
Pollard’s iLottery partner of $2,027 (2019 – $134) for its share of profits and reimbursement of
operating costs, net of capital investments.
At December 31, 2020, included in restricted cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities is an
amount owing to Pollard’s iLottery partner of $4,803 (2019 - $2,600) for funds relating to contractual
performance guarantees.
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23.

Related party transactions (continued):

Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the company. The Board of Directors and the Executive Committee are
considered key management personnel.
Key management personnel compensation comprised:
2020
Wages, salaries and benefits
Profit share
Expenses related to defined benefit plans

2019

$

3,355
48
790

$

3,370
15
614

$

4,193

$

3,999

As at December 31, 2020, key management personnel of Pollard, as a group, beneficially owned or
exercised control or direction over 17,473,408 common shares of Pollard.
24.

Sales to major customers:
For the year ended December 31, 2020, sales to one customer amounted to 15.9 percent of
consolidated sales. In 2019, sales to one customer amounted to 11.2 percent of consolidated sales
and 10.1 percent to a second customer.

25.

Segmented information:
Pollard has two reportable segments: Lotteries and charitable gaming, and Diamond Game, which
are Pollard’s strategic business units.
The strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately. For
each of the strategic business units, Pollard’s Co–CEO’s review internal management reports on a
monthly basis.
The Lotteries and charitable gaming segment derives its revenues from the manufacture of instant
tickets and related products. The Diamond Game segment derives its revenues from the development
of game systems.
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25.

Segmented information (continued):
Year ended December 31, 2020
Lotteries and
charitable
gaming
Diamond Game

Revenues from external customers
Operating costs and expenses
Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Total assets

$

391,581
344,092
47,489
346,364

$

22,553
23,900
(1,347)
58,203

Total

$

Year ended December 31, 2019 (1)
Lotteries and
charitable
gaming
Diamond Game

Revenues from external customers
Operating costs and expenses
Earnings before income taxes
Total assets
(1)

$

365,847
341,321
24,526
290,023

$

31,992
27,517
4,475
62,242

$

414,134
367,992
46,142
404,567

Total

397,839
368,838
29,001
352,265

Effective January 1, 2020, the Oasis egaming division was transferred from International Gamco (Charitable) to Diamond Game
(Gaming Systems), comparative figures have been restated.

December 31,
2020
Property, plant and equipment and goodwill:
Canada
U.S.
U.K.

26.

December 31,
2019

$

74,535
98,580
12,557

$

76,774
81,663
3,460

$

185,672

$

161,897

Financial instruments:
The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount that Pollard would receive or pay to
terminate the instrument agreement at the reporting date.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each type of financial
instrument by reference to various market value data and other valuation techniques as appropriate.
The fair values of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and dividends payable
approximate their carrying values given their short-term maturities.
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26.

Financial instruments (continued):
The fair value of the long-term debt approximates the carrying value due to the variable interest rate
of the debt.
The fair value of the other non-current liabilities approximates the carrying value based on the
expected settlement amount of these liabilities.
Certain financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of financial position are
classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the
measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
Level 1 – valuation based on the quoted prices observed in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities
Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of similar instruments in
active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active;
other than quoted prices used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument; and
inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation
or other means
Level 3 – valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs
A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input
has been considered in measuring fair value.
As at December 31, 2020, the cash and restricted cash recorded at fair value was classified as level
one of the fair value hierarchy, and the contingent consideration recorded at fair value was classified
as level three of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the contingent consideration is calculated
as the present value of the expected future payments, discounted using a risk-adjusted discount
rate. A change to the expected future payments or discount rate would impact the fair value of the
contingent consideration.

27.

Financial risk management:
Pollard has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Currency risk
Interest rate risk

Pollard Banknote Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

27.

Financial risk management (continued):
Pollard’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The Audit Committee oversees
how management monitors compliance with Pollard’s risk management policies and procedures.
The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit, who undertakes regular
reviews of risk management controls and utilizes the annual risk assessment process as the basis for
the annual internal audit plan.

Credit risk
The following table outlines the details of the aging of Pollard’s receivables and the related allowance
for losses:
December 31,
2020
Current
Past due for 1 to 60 days
Past due for more than 60 days
Less: Allowance for losses

December 31,
2019

$

61,355
2,913
1,946
(177)

$

50,093
2,708
4,600
(188)

$

66,037

$

57,213

Pollard has applied the expected credit loss model in evaluating the credit risk associated with its
accounts receivable. As part of this analysis, Pollard has grouped its customers into two tranches:
government lottery organizations and charitable gaming distribution networks. For sales to
government lottery organizations, Pollard has assessed the loss allowance at zero based on the
nature of the customer organizations, and no history of losses, collection issues, or significantly
overdue receivables, as well as other customer-specific and forward-looking macroeconomic factors.
Pollard has performed the same assessment for charitable gaming distribution network customers,
resulting in the provision of a loss allowance, as shown in the table above.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Pollard will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The following table outlines Pollard’s maturity analysis of the undiscounted cash flows, including
related interest payments, of certain non-current financial liabilities and leases as of December 31,
2020:
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27.

Financial risk management (continued):

Long-term debt
Leases

Total

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025 &
thereafter

$

136,601
19,352

2,618
6,040

133,983
5,396

–
4,340

–
1,542

–
2,034

$

155,953

8,658

139,379

4,340

1,542

2,034

Pollard’s approach is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due. The 2021 requirements for capital expenditures, working capital and dividends
are expected to be financed from cash flow provided by operating activities and the unused portion
of Pollard’s credit facility. Pollard enters into contractual obligations in the normal course of business
operations.

Currency risk
Pollard sells a significant portion of its products and services to customers in the United States and
to some international customers where sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition, a significant
portion of its cost inputs are denominated in U.S. dollars. Pollard also generates revenue in currencies
other than the Canadian and U.S. dollar, primarily in Euros.
A 50 basis point strengthening/weakening in the foreign exchange rate between the Canadian and
U.S. dollar would decrease/increase the income before income taxes by approximately $169 for the
year ended December 31, 2020 (2019 – $36). A 50 basis point strengthening/weakening in the
foreign exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and Euro would decrease/increase the income
before income taxes due to changes in operating cashflow by approximately $72 for year ended
December 31, 2020 (2019 – $81).
In addition, translation differences arise when foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at foreign exchange rates that change over time. As at December 31, 2020, the amount
of financial liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars exceeded the amount of financial assets
denominated in U.S. dollars by approximately $52,626 (2019 – $27,949).
A 50 basis point weakening/strengthening in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S.
dollar would result in a decrease/increase in income before taxes of approximately $263 for the year
ended December 31, 2020 (2019 – $140).
Pollard utilizes a number of strategies to mitigate its exposure to currency risk. Five manufacturing
facilities are located in the U.S. and a significant amount of cost inputs for all production facilities are
denominated in U.S. dollars, offsetting a large portion of the U.S. dollar revenue in a natural hedge.

Pollard Banknote Limited
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(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

27.

Financial risk management (continued):
Pollard also uses financial hedges, including foreign currency contracts, to help manage foreign
currency risk. At December 31, 2020, and at December 31, 2019, Pollard had no outstanding foreign
currency contracts.

Interest rate risk
Pollard is exposed to interest rate risk relating to its fixed and floating rate instruments. Fluctuation
in interest rates will have an effect on the valuation and repayment of these instruments.
A 50 basis point decrease/increase in interest rates would result in an increase/decrease in income
before income taxes of approximately $656 for the year ended December 31, 2020 (2019 – $639).
28.

Subsequent events:
(a) Next Generation Lotteries AS
On January 14, 2021, Pollard completed the previously announced acquisition of Next Generation
Lotteries AS (“NGL”). On December 31, 2020, Pollard signed a definitive agreement to acquire 100%
of the equity of NGL for a purchase price of €36,000 ($56,500), prior to standard working capital
adjustments and certain deferred cash considerations, of which €32,000 ($50,000) was paid at the
time of closing and the remaining €4,000 ($6,300) of which will be paid upon the achievement of
certain gross margin targets in 2021. The purchase price was funded from existing Pollard Banknote
cash resources and availability under the existing senior credit facilities for approximately €27,400
($43,000) and the issuance of treasury shares of Pollard Banknote for approximately €4,600 ($7,200).
The acquisition will be accounted for using the acquisition method. The allocation of the purchase
price to the identifiable assets and liabilities has not yet been completed.
(b) Share offering
On February 9, 2021, Pollard announced that it had entered into an agreement with a syndicate of
underwriters to purchase, on a bought deal basis, 812,000 common shares of Pollard at a price of
$36.95 per share. Pollard also granted the underwriters an over-allotment option exercisable at any
time up to 30 days following the closing of the offering, to purchase up to an additional 121,800
common shares. The offering, including the full over-allotment, closed on March 2, 2021. The total
gross proceeds, prior to any commissions and offering expenses, from the sale of 933,800 common
shares was approximately $34,504.
Pollard used the net proceeds to repay indebtedness under Pollard’s credit facility incurred in the
recent acquisitions of Compliant and NGL.

